
 

   1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

P
IS

A
N

E
L

L
I 
B

IC
E

  
40

0 
SO

U
T

H
 7

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T
, S

U
IT

E
 3

00
 

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S,

 N
E

V
A

D
A

 8
91

01
 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

WYNN RESORTS LIMITED,
 
   Petitioners, 
 
vs. 
 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEVADA, IN AND FOR THE 
COUNTY OF CLARK; AND THE 
HONORABLE ELIZABETH 
GONZALEZ, DISTRICT JUDGE, 
DEPT. XI, 
 
   Respondent, 
 
and 
 
KAZUO OKADA, UNIVERSAL 
ENTERTAINMENT CORP. 
AND ARUZE USA, INC., 
 
  Real Parties in Interest. 

Case No. _____ 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX IN SUPPORT OF  
WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED'S 
PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
PROHIBITION OR MANDAMUS  
 
 
 
VOLUME III OF V 
 

 

 

DATED this 11th day of September, 2017. 
 

     PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
     By:   /s/  Debra L. Spinelli           
      James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 

 Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 
 Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., Bar No. 9695 
 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300  
 Las Vegas, Nevada   89101 
 
Attorneys for Petitioner Wynn Resorts, Limited 

  

Electronically Filed
Sep 12 2017 10:23 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 73949   Document 2017-30597



 

   2

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

P
IS

A
N

E
L

L
I 
B

IC
E

  
40

0 
SO

U
T

H
 7

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T
, S

U
IT

E
 3

00
 

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S,

 N
E

V
A

D
A

 8
91

01
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Records Hold Notice 11/17/11 I 0001-0007 

Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 01/11/12 I 0008-0028 

Freeh Report 02/2012 I 0029-0075 

Minutes of a Special Meeting of the Board of 
Directors of Wynn Resorts, Limited 
(UNDER SEAL) 

02/18/12 I, II 0076-0254 

Complaint, Wynn Resorts, Limited v. Kazuo 
Okada, et al. – Case No. A-12-656710-B 

02/19/12 II 0255-0322 

Counterclaim and Answer of Aruze USA, Inc. 
and Universal Entertainment Corporation 

03/12/12 II 0323-0419 

Affidavit of Robert J. Miller in Support of 
Wynn Parties' Opposition to Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction 

09/20/12 II 0420-0497 

Reply in Support of Defendants' Motion to 
Compel Wynn Resorts, Limited to Produce 
Freeh Documents 

10/14/15 III 0498-0515 

Transcript of Hearing Wynn Parties' Motion to 
Compel Expedited Responses and Defendants' 
Motion to Compel Freeh Documents 

10/15/15 III 0516-0551 

Excerpts of Deposition of Alvin V. Shoemaker, 
Volume I (UNDER SEAL) 

01/28/16 III 0552-0555 

Excerpts of Deposition of Robert J. Miller, 
Volume I (UNDER SEAL) 

02/09/16 III 0556-0560 

Excerpts of Deposition of Russell Goldsmith 
(UNDER SEAL) 

02/19/16 III 0561-0565 

Excerpts of Deposition of D. Boone Wayson, 
Volume I (UNDER SEAL) 

02/16/16 III 0566-0571 

Order Regarding (1) Motions to Compel Freeh 
Documents and (2) In-Camera Review of Freeh 
Group Documents 

05/03/16 III 0572-0575 

Excerpts of Transcript of Preliminary 
Injunction Hearing – Day 1 

03/13/17 III 0576-0583 
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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Defendants' Motion to Set a Date Certain on 
Production of Pre-Redemption Freeh 
Documents Withheld as Attorney-Client 
Privileged (Unredacted Version)  
(UNDER SEAL) 

08/01/17 III, IV 0584-0755 

Defendants' Motion to Set a Date Certain on 
Production of Pre-Redemption Freeh 
Documents Withheld as Attorney-Client 
Privileged (Redacted Version) 

08/01/17 IV 0756-0764 

Wynn Resorts, Limited's Opposition to Motion 
to Set a Date Certain on Production of 
Pre-Redemption Freeh Documents  
(Unredacted Version) (UNDER SEAL) 

08/18/17 IV 0765-0786 

Wynn Resorts, Limited's Opposition to Motion 
to Set a Date Certain on Production of 
Pre-Redemption Freeh Documents  
(Redacted Version) 

08/18/17 IV 0787-0808 

Appendix to Wynn Resorts, Limited's 
Opposition to Motion to Set a Date Certain on 
Production of Pre-Redemption Freeh 
Documents (Unredacted Version)  
(UNDER SEAL) 

08/18/17 IV 0809-0939 

Appendix to Wynn Resorts, Limited's 
Opposition to Motion to Set a Date Certain on 
Production of Pre-Redemption Freeh 
Documents (Redacted Version) 

08/18/17 IV 0940-0983 

Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion to Set 
a Date Certain on Production of 
Pre-Redemption Freeh Documents (Unredacted 
Version) (UNDER SEAL) 

08/24/17 V 0984-1018 

Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion to Set 
a Date Certain on Production of 
Pre-Redemption Freeh Documents (Redacted 
Version) 

08/24/17 V 1019-1040 
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DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Transcript of Hearing on Motions 08/25/17 V 1041-1154 
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Defendants' Motion to Set a Date Certain on 
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Donald J. Campbell, Esq. 
J. Colby Williams, Esq. 
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HOLTHUS & ROSE 
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Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. 
Tami D. Cowden, Esq. 
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Scott D. Stein, Esq.  
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       /s/   Kimberly Peets    
      An employee of PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
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APPEARANCES: 

FOR THE PLAINTIFF: 

FOR THE DEFENDANTS: 

JAMES J. PISANELLI, ESQ. 
DEBRA SPINELLI, ESQ. 

J. STEPHEN PEEK, ESQ. 
ROBERT J. CASSITY, ESQ. 
ADAM B. MILLER, ESQ. 
COLBY WILLIAMS, ESQ. 
DONALD JUDE CAMPBELL, ESQ. 
WILLIAM R. URGA, ESQ. 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, THURSDAY, OCTOBER 15, 2015, 8:03 A.M. 

(Court was called to order) 

THE COURT: Do I have everybody I need to start? 

MR. PISANELLI: On our side you do. 

MR. CASSITY: Yes, Your Honor. 

6 THE COURT: I was just wondering, Mr. Cassity. 

7 Because Mr. Morris told me I didn't even when I had Mr. Peek 

8 here the other day. 

9 MR. PEEK: I know. It's just hilarious, Your Honor, 

10 because he's always giving me a bad time. 

11 THE COURT: You have a total of 15 minutes each on 

12 both motions. What do you want to start with? 

13 MR. PISANELLI: I'm indifferent. 

14 

15 

MR. PEEK: I'm also Switzerland, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Then let's talk -- I want to 

16 talk about the defendants' motion to compel Wynn. 

17 

18 

MR. PEEK: It's my motion on the Freeh documents. 

THE COURT: Your motion on the Freeh documents. 

19 MR. PEEK: Because I have such limited time, I'll 

20 try to be brief, Your Honor. Because I think it's been well 

21 briefed. 

22 THE COURT: It's been very well briefed, and I 

23 actually went through the privilege log myself yesterday and 

24 had some questions for Mr. --

25 MR. PEEK: Are your eyes okay after --

3 
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1 THE COURT: It's bad. 

2 MR. PEEK: Yeah. I had trouble with it, as well, 

3 Your Honor. But I thought it was just because I had bad eyes. 

4 Your Honor, the focus of the motion on the 

5 production of the Freeh documents really revolves around what 

6 I call the sword/shield, where they used the Freeh report 

7 first in the course of their redemption, and they, of course, 

8 had said when they hired Freeh that they would only disclose 

9 it if it were advisable. Well, it must have appeared 

10 advisable to them in February of 2012, because they made wide 

11 publication of the Freeh report first, of course, to this 

12 Court when they filed it at 2:30 a.m. in the morning right 

13 after the meeting of the board of directors, and then secondly 

14 when they filed it -- or gave it to The Wall Street Journal 

15 and let The Wall Street Journal publish it, and then thirdly 

16 when they filed it as an attachment to their 8-K. There was 

17 no need to attach it to their 8-K, there was no need to attach 

18 it to -- or to attach it really to the complaint, and there 

19 was certainly no need to provide it to The Wall Street Journal 

20 to widely publicize their activity and embarrass Mr. Okada. 

21 Now they say that that report and the appendix 

22 attached to it which refers to a number of documents that they 

23 did review and that they did want to at least include, that 

24 now we are not allowed to look at those documents that they 

25 claim to be privileged, some 6,000 documents on the privilege 
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1 log. I've looked at the privilege log and if the Court does 

2 not grant my motion today, we certainly will be back. The 

3 Court will spend the time in an in-camera review of all 6,000 

4 of those documents and certainly question Wynn Resorts as to 

5 the validity and the efficacy of their subject matter 

6 description on their log. 

7 You only need to look at Wardly, Your Honor, I think 

8 to answer the question of whether or not this is being used as 

9 a sword, as opposed to a shield. They chose to attack not 

10 only Aruze USA with respect to the report, but they also, Your 

11 Honor, used that very same report in the allegations of their 

12 complaint to claim a breach of fiduciary duty of Mr. Okada and 

13 to then add to that, based again on the Freeh report, an 

14 aiding and abetting claim against UEC. Then they say, well, 

15 the investigation only surrounded the activities of Aruze USA 

16 in the redemption of its stock, but then they say it really 

17 was used and supports a claim of both breach of fiduciary duty 

18 against Okada and aiding and abetting against UEC. 

19 They claim now, though, that everything he did was 

20 privileged. They claim that he was hired as an attorney, that 

21 he was hired only for purposes of providing legal advice. 

22 However, much of the evidence that we see is that this was his 

23 independent investigation. If he's independent, then that 

24 doesn't mean that he is doing it just on behalf of the board, 

25 but he's doing it as an independent consultant on behalf of 
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1 the board, as well as the interests of Mr. Okada and others. 

2 He wasn't hired to provide legal advice with respect to 

3 whether or not there were factual support for, as they claim, 

4 a breach of the articles of incorporation, as well as a breach 

5 of the shareholder agreement which provided for redemption in 

6 the event and the sole discretion of Wynn Resorts that they 

7 found him to be unsuitable. They have to live with the 

8 consequences of that decision when they use that report to go 

9 on the offense against Mr. Okada and UEC, not just Aruze, but 

10 Okada and UEC. 

11 We should be allowed to look at all of the evidence 

12 within the body of that report that is the subject matter of 

13 the privilege log and others with respect to Louis Freeh, who 

14 they touted, here we have the former director of the FBI 

15 conducting these investigations, so they hid behind, of 

16 course, his so-called reputation, and they used that when they 

17 published it in attaching it to the complaint, giving it to 

18 The Wall Street Journal, and to their 8-K. 

19 They want to deny us access to that report. They 

20 cannot garble the truth by using what may be and what we don't 

21 know exculpatory evidence within the body of the Freeh report 

22 that may have been imparted to counsel for the Wynn Resorts. 

23 And then they say, well, this is really only about business 

24 judgment rule. Well, the business judgment rule, Your Honor, 

25 which I've been before this Court litigating in many matters, 

6 

0521



1 only protects the officers and directors really from 

2 liability. It doesn't validate the action of the company. It 

3 only insulates the board members unless it's the result of 

4 fraud or intentional misconduct. It doesn't validate, it 

5 doesn't make right the action that they took against Chairman 

6 Okada, and we are certainly going to have a lot of testimony 

7 and a lot of discovery surrounding Louis Freeh. 

8 As point of fact, Your Honor, they had even listed 

9 Louis Freeh in their 16.1 disclosures of individuals with 

10 knowledge. I won't say witness, but he is certainly listed. 

11 And then they describe what Mr. Freeh's knowledge is, and it's 

12 the fact surrounding the Freeh report. This was a business 

13 purpose. This was not seeking legal advice. This is not 

14 something that should be protected by the attorney-client 

15 privilege. So it's not only waived, it wasn't even an 

16 attorney-client communication. It was a business 

17 investigation designed to aid the company in making a business 

18 decision with respect to whether or not to redeem Mr. Okada's 

19 -- or Aruze USA's stock. Hired to investigate facts, not 

20 provide legal advice. 

21 Then we get to certainly the question of whether or 

22 not it has been a waiver of the work product privilege, 

23 whether or not it's even protected by work product. Let me go 

24 to the latter one first, as to whether or not it is protected 

25 by work product and whether it falls within the category of in 
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1 anticipation of litigation. We both cited a number of cases 

2 that go to the heart of whether or not it is the sine qua non 

3 of the investigation or whether or not it is something 

4 different. Certainly there was no question but there would be 

5 litigation if you take away almost $3 billion worth of stock 

6 of an individual or a company, as they did here; but it was 

7 not done in anticipation of litigation, it was not done that 

8 Mr. Okada, Aruze USA are going to sue me, Wynn Resorts, so I 

9 need to defensively investigate whether or not there is some 

10 validity to his claims. This was an affirmative action on 

11 their part. This was not something that they were doing as, 

12 oh, let's do the investigation, let's take away his stock and 

13 then let's file a dee relief at 2:30 in the morning right 

14 after the board meeting. 

15 Your Honor, they hired separate lawyers to give them 

16 the kind of legal advice that they needed as to whether not on 

17 the facts provided by Mr. Freeh in the course of the 

18 investigation that he gave them, whether or not that 

19 constituted grounds for redemption under the articles and the 

20 shareholders agreement. This is neither legal advice, it's 

21 not protected, it's not work product, not protected, but, more 

22 importantly, Your Honor, if it is either of those, it has been 

23 waived when they made it the subject matter of an attachment 

24 to the complaint, the publication to The Wall Street Journal, 

25 and an attachment to their 8-K. Thank you. 

8 

0523



THE COURT: Thank you. 

Mr. Pisanelli. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

MR. PEEK: How much time so I have left, Your Honor? 

THE COURT: Five minutes, 40 seconds. 

MR. PEEK: Thank you. 

MR. PISANELLI: Thank you, Your Honor. 

Your Honor, the defendants' motion, respectfully, ' lS 

8 offered on a false premise. It's offered on this concept that 

9 the privileged information from Judge Freeh is needed from 

10 their perspective in order to prove that Judge Freeh got it 

11 wrong. Well, whether Judge Freeh got it wrong or not is not 

12 an issue in this case. And again 

13 THE COURT: The company doesn't have the same 

14 protection that the officers and directors do under the 

15 business judgment rule, Mr. Pisanelli. 

16 MR. PISANELLI: I'm not sure how that plays into the 

17 analysis, Your Honor. What we're going to do in this case is 

18 to have an analysis of what the company did by and through its 

19 senior management team, which is the board of directors. In 

20 order to analyze whether this Court will substitute its 

21 judgment for that of the board of directors we have to filter 

22 what the board of directors did through the business judgment 

23 rule. The business judgment rule, of course, requires us to 

24 take a look at what they knew. And so that's we've done. 

25 What did they know; not what whether the information could be 
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1 disproven, not if the information was wrong, but what did they 

2 know, what did they rely upon, and did they have reason to 

3 believe that what they were relying upon was not in fact 

4 reliable. That's what we're here to analyze. In other words, 

5 defendants would have Your Honor turn the business judgment 

6 rule upside down and say that if Judge Freeh was wrong then 

7 this board of directors made an improper decision and it was 

8 not entitled to exercise its judgment in the way it did. 

9 That's not what the law says, respectfully. That's the exact 

10 circumstance where the Court is asked to step in and become 

11 the board of directors and decide should you have done this or 

12 should you have not done this. And, of course, that's not 

13 what the law requires. 

14 We took everything that the board of directors had 

15 before it, including the Freeh report, and it's been 

16 discoverable. We took the issues the were presented to them, 

17 and that's been discoverable. We took the appendix, and 

18 that's been discoverable. We have opened up and had discovery 

19 on the three reports about Mr. Okada's -- about the 

20 Philippines that preceded the Freeh report. And that's 

21 discoverable. We have issues about Mr. Okada telling the 

22 board that bribery is part of the culture in Asia, you just do 

23 it through third persons so that your fingerprints aren't on 

24 it. That's discoverable. 

25 What is not at issue in this case is any vetting or 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

background investigation that the board under the defendants' 

theory could have or should have done in order to rebut the 

Freeh report. In other words, we will have discovery about 

what, if any, exculpatory evidence that Mr. Okada offered, 

which is nothing. We will not have a case about whether it 

was incumbent upon the board to bring their own exculpatory 

evidence before, in other words, go digging for something that 

doesn't exist. 

debate. 

And that's how we find ourselves in this 

The background information that Judge Freeh has and 

that is in the privilege log was not presented to the board of 

directors. The board of directors didn't consider it. It's 

not coming in this case as part of the analysis. So this 

concept about a sword and a shield is also a false premise. 

We're not going to say that here, by the way, is information 

that we never gave you in this case because we put it on a 

privilege log and now we're going to use it. Of course that's 

not going to happen. What we're going to do is to bring Your 

Honor and the jury into the board room so that they can see 

what happened at that time, preserve our privileges which 

occurred during that board meeting, which we've done through 

the redacted board meetings, and let a full view of what 

happened be presented to the jury. The concept of proving 

Judge Freeh got it wrong is not part of this case. And if you 

ever needed anything to find out what the defendants' position 
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1 is on that case, Your Honor, is look -- and this is ' in 

2 connection with other issues that are coming before look at 

3 what defendant's position has been on their Chertoff report, 

4 the report that they prepared to prove Judge Freeh wrong, have 

5 belligerently objected that it's irrelevant and has nothing to 

6 do with this case. You cannot say that we get behind Judge 

7 Freeh --

8 THE COURT: We're not there today. 

9 MR. PISANELLI: But my point ' only to show that is 

10 speaking out of both sides of their mouth we see that it's 

11 expedient to say that it's relevant under one circumstance, 

12 but then deny it when they fall behind the judgment -- the 

13 business judgment rule. Remember, Your Honor, it was these 

14 defendants through Mr. Krakoff who stood before you on the 

15 motion for the judgment on the pleadings and argued that 

' in 

16 they're entitled to judgment because, and this was a quote, 

17 "This is a business judgment rule case. That has nothing to 

18 do with the Reuters allegations, this has nothing to do with 

19 things that happened after the board's consideration, because 

20 they could not have considered it." They have now taken a 

21 180-degree turn, as I've said, because it's expedient and now 

22 they want additional information. 

23 This concept that there were additional lawyers, 

24 gaming lawyers, litigators, whatever, makes Mr. Freeh 

25 something other than a lawyer entitled to have, preserve 
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1 privileges is not supported by the law. This concept that it 

2 was not in anticipation of litigation I think requires Your 

3 Honor to put blinders on and not look at the work that was 

4 done and the context in which it was done. Remember, this is 

5 a report that followed three earlier reports on the 

6 Philippines and the Philippines project. It's a report that 

7 was done in the wake of Mr. Okada refusing FCPA training and 

8 openly declaring that bribery is an accepted part of the Asian 

9 culture, don't sweat it, just use third parties. It's also 

10 the context of a continued dispute with Mr. Okada about the 

11 company wanting nothing to do with the Philippines and its 

12 position that if he was part of that project that he may not 

13 fit in the company anymore. So it's I think unrealistic to 

14 suggest that he -- or somehow there was anyone involved in 

15 this process that did not expect litigation was ensuing 

16 immediately. 

17 So the concept of a waiver, and I'll finish up on 

' in 

18 this point, Your Honor, we have again inconsistent positions 

19 coming from the defendants. On the one hand they say that we 

20 should not have attached it to our complaint and that because 

21 we did we have to live with the consequences. Yet, on page 5 

22 of their reply they say that, "We cannot obtain judicial 

23 ratification of the seizure of the stock without subjecting 

24 the Freeh report to careful scrutiny." So which is it, we 

25 shouldn't have, or we must have? With this cry of due process 

13 

0528



1 they say that we must have given them the report, we must have 

2 attached it to the complaint. And so then they make the 

3 logical leap that if you attach it to the complaint, then 

4 everything and every privilege, one size fits all is waived. 

5 And that's certainly not the law. We have to take a look to 

6 see if there's any relation to the subject matter of each 

7 particular document, which they have not done. 

8 And, Your Honor, we have to take a look at overall 

9 policy, as well. The rule that the defendants are offering to 

10 you would suggest that if you take a contract and attach it to 

11 the complaint, a contract that will obviously be the just of 

12 the debate, then everything that went into the contract, all 

13 the lawyer advice, all the communications, even work in 

14 anticipation of litigating that contract is now fair game 

15 because you put the contract at issue. The Freeh report is ' in 

16 the same context. This is a document considered in the board 

17 of directors meeting and, as they just said, their words, 

18 subject to careful scrutiny does not mean that all of our 

19 privileges that were behind it are automatically waived. From 

20 again, a policy perspective we would have a chilling effect on 

21 the very difficult task of corporate governance, in particular 

22 for gaming licensees. This is a fine line that companies ' in 

23 this industry have to walk of making sure their policing 

24 themselves while protective themselves. The defendants' rule 

25 in this cases that they're offering to you says that there is 
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1 no such thing as confidentiality and privilege when it comes 

2 to corporate governance. And respectfully, that's just not 

3 the law. 

4 

5 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

The motion is granted in part. Freeh was hired as 

6 counsel to conduct an investigation to provide conclusions 

7 related to information at the request of the board. As a 

8 result of that, the attorney-client privilege may apply to 

9 certain of the entries of the 6,000 or so in the 3 inches of 

10 the privilege log. However, this was not done in 

11 contemplation of litigation, and the work product doctrine 

12 does not apply. 

13 For that reason there has -- needs to be some 

14 modifications to those documents that are being disclosed. 

15 Items that you contend are privileged may be protected subject 

16 to designation of individual items to be challenged and then 

17 ' ' in-camera review. The attachment of the report and the 

18 appendices was not a wholesale waiver of any privilege. 

19 Anything else on this issue? 

20 How long do you need to supplement or decide if 

21 you're going to do something else? 

22 

23 so --

24 

MR. PISANELLI: Well, yeah, we have 6,000 entries, 

THE COURT: One thing. Work product in my mind does 

25 not include attorneys' notes. Attorney's notes in my mind 
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1 always relate more closely to attorney-client privilege issues 

2 because of the confidential nature of that information. If we 

3 get to a point where somebody wants to litigate that, we can 

4 talk about it. But when I say work product is not protected 

5 I'm not including with that attorneys' notes. 

6 MR. PISANELLI: And I apologize, Your Honor. Before 

7 I ask you for a stay 

8 THE COURT: You can always ask me for a stay. You 

9 got one the other and you've got an argument on November 3rd 

10 or something. I mean, you're on a roll. You and Mr. Peek 

11 between the two of you are keeping them busy. 

12 MR. PISANELLI: Sometimes --

13 MR. PEEK: Our Super Discovery Commissioner, Your 

14 Honor? 

15 MR. PISANELLI: But my point is before -- you know, 

16 maybe I'm premature on the request, because I'm not altogether 

17 clear what affirmative action it is you want from us now and 

18 whether that action actually results in a waiver. 

19 THE COURT: So for those items that are listed on a 

20 privilege log, which is Exhibit 1 to the appendix of exhibits 

21 referenced in your reply -- or no. This 

22 MR. PEEK: It's Exhibit 10 to ours, Your Honor. I 

23 think it's --

24 THE COURT: Exhibit 1 to Mr. Peek's appendix. This 

25 document, which is in like 2 font -- I understand it's on a 
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1 computer and somebody can read it, but many of the entries 

2 simply say, "In the privilege designation category work 

3 product." If they are not attorney's notes, I am overruling 

4 that objection. 

5 MR. PISANELLI: Okay. So you are ordering 

6 production. So then that answers my question, and I would 

7 request a stay, since it is a privilege issue, to give us an 

8 opportunity to analyze it of whether we want to take it up on 

9 a writ and, if so, to actually prepare the writ. 

10 THE COURT: You can have a 10-day stay while you 

11 figure it out. 

12 MR. PISANELLI: Thank you. 

13 MR. PEEK: And we'll prepare the order, Your Honor, 

14 and pass it by Counsel. 

15 THE COURT: Please try and have all the things I 

16 said today. 

17 MR. PEEK: I'm going to try, Your Honor, do my best. 

18 I will get a copy of the transcript. We actually get it on a 

19 daily basis, so --

20 

21 

22 

23 

THE COURT: I'm aware of that. 

Now, Mr. Pisanelli, we're on your motion. 

MR. PEEK: How much time do we have left? 

THE COURT: Not much. 

24 THE LAW CLERK: Six minutes and 12 seconds, 5 minutes 

25 and 40 seconds. 
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1 

2 

MR. PEEK: For each? 

THE LAW CLERK: Five minutes and 40 seconds, 6 

3 minutes and 12 seconds. 

4 MR. PISANELLI: Your Honor, as you heard before you 

5 left on vacation, depositions are underway in this case. And 

6 that's an event of consequence for what we're here to talk 

7 about today. It means that the stonewalling with document 

8 production comes with greater consequences. The prejudice to 

9 us is greater, and therefore sanctions need to be greater. 

10 And, of course, the remedies need to be swifter in order to 

11 make sure that the prejudice isn't compounded. 

12 As Your Honor certainly knows from the motion 

13 practice in this case, at the heart of this case really 

14 there's two different sets of issues. One set is what's been 

15 characterized as the Reuters allegations. Reuters allegations 

16 are related to the fiduciary duty claim, and they touch upon 

17 the evidence that's out there that the defendants Mr. Okada 

18 put Wynn Resorts in jeopardy through their illegal conduct 

19 the Philippines, i.e., $40 million or so in bribes to or 

20 through government officials. 

' in 

21 So all of these arguments in this debate, of all the 

22 defenses that one would expect in the discovery dispute not 

23 unlike what we just had, the only thing that we've actually 

24 been fighting about with the Reuters allegations is relevance. 

25 Relevance is what brings us to this motion. Now, there's been 
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1 an inconsistency from the defendants' position. I'm going to 

2 use that word "inconsistency" as a grotesque understatement of 

3 what they said to us and what they've said to you. At the 

4 judgment on the pleadings the Okada parties warned Your Honor 

5 that the document production and the depos would be extensive, 

6 quote, "I can't even tell you the number of witnesses it will 

7 involve for discovery purposes, depositions for document 

8 purposes." Mr. Krakoff again was on that slippery slope 

9 trying to tell Your Honor that discovery and the trial would 

10 be protracted for months if the Reuters allegations are left 

11 in this case. In the letters rogatory Mr. Peek stood up 

12 before Your Honor, and he said that, "We seek information from 

13 those individuals related to what has been termed as the 

14 Reuters allegations. The information sought from them is 

15 reasonably collected to lead to the discovery of admissible 

16 evidence and is relevant." Now, there's nothing remarkable 

17 about those admissions, because they're at the heart of this 

18 case and they should have been admitted. 

19 But when it came to actually producing their 

20 documents so far on the Reuters allegations they have produced 

21 not one single piece of paper. And the reason they haven't, 

22 Your Honor, is this quote. "The Court has never squarely 

23 addressed the question of whether the document requests are 

24 reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of admissible 

25 evidence. We maintain that they're not, and therefore stand 
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1 on our previously stated objections." 

2 Now, they took this position, Your Honor, on the 

3 same day that they admitted to you in that quote that I just 

4 read to you that these things were relevant. Within hours 

5 they say to you in letters rogatory that it's relevant and 

6 discoverable. And when we said, we agree, give us your 

7 documents including what you gave to the government, they 

8 said, not relevant, not discoverable. 

9 So once the 2.34 proceeds we then get a walking back 

10 of this position in part. Now, this is exhausting 2.34 

11 negotiations. It's been going on for months and months and 

12 months. But what they did was left the door open for 

13 gamesmanship so that these depositions in particular could go 

14 by while they still had some ammunition left. What they told 

15 us was that they were reserving their rights to object on 

16 relevance on a document-by-document basis as it relates to the 

17 Reuters allegations. Well, you know, in all due respect, 

18 that's not good enough. There is no reservation of rights. 

19 We're not going to wait after the depositions are over to find 

20 out that you continued on this bad-faith assertion of 

21 relevance after getting relief from Your Honor and taking the 

22 exact opposite position throughout this case. 

23 It appears that short of Your Honor saying 

24 expressly, yes, defendants, your decisions on discoverability 

25 relate to your obligations, as well, they're not going to do 
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1 it without reservation and without playing the game that they 

2 might be holding back on relevance even though there's no 

3 relevance log. In other words, we won't know if they kept it, 

4 because it was irrelevant in their view. 

5 So we're asking Your Honor to put an end to it. 

6 It's pretty simple. They know what the requests are, they 

7 know what the subject matter is. They're doing their on 

8 discovery on the same exact topics through the letters 

9 rogatory and through requests for production of documents to 

10 us. It's time to put an end to this bad faith and to produce 

11 these documents immediately. We're in the middle of a 

12 30(b) (6), and Mr. Okada's deposition begins in about a week 

13 and a half. They've had 10 months, and I suspect all of these 

14 documents are already gathered for production to the 

15 government. So it's not going to be overly burdensome. And 

16 if it . that's a problem of their own making. lS, 

17 THE COURT: Thank you. 

18 Mr. Peek, you have 5 minutes or less. 

19 MR. PEEK: Well, I've got 5 minutes, 40 seconds, I 

20 thought. 

21 THE COURT: Five minutes and 40 seconds. 

22 MR. PEEK: So it's not less. I have 5-plus minutes, 

23 Your Honor. 

24 Your Honor, we set forth a timeline with respect to 

25 the Reuters documents within our briefing of this matter, and, 
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1 as you can see from the timeline that the first objection was 

2 made in 2013, no motions to compel were made. You see that we 

3 -- certainly, yes, we did file a motion for judgment on the 

4 pleadings, and, yes, we did look at the Court's order, and the 

5 Court said and asked Mr. Pisanelli, "Mr. Pisanelli, is this 

6 paragraph or these allegations in the complaint a stand-alone 

7 claim, or is it wrapped--" in other words, is it wrapped into 

8 other claims of fiduciary. Mr. Pisanelli answered and says, 

9 "It is not, Your Honor. It is more." And based on that, Your 

10 Honor, at least one of the reasons was, the Court denied the 

11 motion for judgment on the pleadings, because it is a pleading 

12 standard. 

13 We then followed that up with our supplemental 

14 responses in March of 2015, said the same thing, we object, no 

15 motion to compel. They then noticed Mr. Okada's deposition ' in 

16 May of 2015, and set it for July. We had a lot of discussion 

17 about it, but nothing was said at that time, Your Honor, about 

18 the production of the Reuters documents, nor was any motion 

19 made with respect to the Reuters documents despite the fact 

20 that we had our outstanding objections as of March 2015. 

21 They then move forward with a 30(b) (6). We filed 

22 our opposition, filed our motion, and the Court ordered us to 

23 go forward with respect to the Reuters documents. And in that 

24 time we did make the decision that we would produce the 

25 Reuters documents. So this idea and this notion that we are 
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1 somehow not being candid with the tribunal, which they trot 

2 out there to try to make me look bad, try to make my client 

3 look bad, try to make my co-counsel look bad, is just a 

4 specious argument designed somehow to get the attention of the 

5 Court on something that is not true. 

6 What we do know is this. They promised production 

7 of their documents on or before August 31st. 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

' in a 

of my 

THE COURT: 

minute. 

MR. PEEK: 

THE COURT: 

MR. PEEK: 

argument. 

THE COURT: 

I'm not there. I'm going to get there 

Your Honor, I just 

I've got a line. 

Your Honor, I'm using this -- it's part 

Okay, Mr. Peek. 

MR. PEEK: 5 I'm not asking the Court to take action 

16 on it, but it's important I think for purposes of this 

17 argument, that they say, you don't get to have our documents 

18 to prepare your witness but we have to have your documents on 

19 this very shortened period of time in order to take Mr. 

20 Takeuchi's deposition and Mr. Okada's deposition. This is a 

21 creature of their own making. They chose the discovery 

22 schedule, they chose to go forward with it in the absence of 

23 the Reuters documents. They had a lot of time to be able to 

24 ask this Court for relief, ask this Court, say back in May, 

25 we're going to take Chairman Okada's deposition, we need the 
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1 Reuters documents before that deposition, and compel 

2 production of those back in May of 2015. Instead they chose 

3 to wait until the last minute, brought this on an emergency 

4 basis, and said, oh, we need these, we need these documents 

5 that we have defined, Your Honor, as some 500,000 hits. From 

6 those hits I don't know what will be produced, what is 

7 responsive, but just in a general sense through searches we've 

8 identified a number of hits. And, oh, by the way, you can't 

9 have our documents as part of this production in order to 

10 prepare your witnesses but we have to have yours. They chose 

11 this timing. They chose to do it rather than wait until all 

12 documents had been produced, not only ours, but theirs, as 

13 well, so that both sides would have a fair opportunity to 

14 review and produce and prepare for the deposition. 

15 I'm not suggesting that we continue these 

16 depositions, but it is their choice. They should not be, one, 

17 allowed to compel production of those documents, there is no 

18 sanctionable conduct here, there is no order of this Court at 

19 all with respect to those. We have preserved our objections, 

20 we are entitled to make those objections. 

21 They then say, well, if you can't produce them then 

22 we reserve our right and we want the Court to tell us that 

23 it's okay for us to bring back Mr. Okada or the 30(b) (6) 

24 witness Mr. Takeuchi to testify on whatever documents we 

25 receive from you. Your Honor, that is not my problem. That 
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1 is their choice. They made that choice. We choose to make it 

2 to have depositions after all documents have been produced. 

3 We have sent them notices that we're going to proceed based on 

4 the schedule that they've given us with production of 

5 documents, we're going to proceed with depositions after the 

6 first of the year, and it's based upon receipt of all the 

7 documents. If we don't get that -- get those documents, we 

8 certainly will come before this Court and ask for that 

9 production before a time certain so that we can prepare for 

10 those depositions that we are scheduling. 

11 They choose to go to the Supreme Court, they get a 

12 stay from the Supreme Court, as the Court knows, we have oral 

13 argument on the 3rd with respect to a number of the documents 

14 that go to the issues that are extant that the Court has ruled 

15 are relevant and reasonably calculated to lead to the 

16 discovery of admissible evidence in this case. As to when the 

17 Supreme Court will make that decision no one knows. You know, 

18 I've been up and down there already. They certainly acted 

19 quickly on the timing and location, but I don't know how 

20 quickly 

21 THE COURT: Of depositions. 

22 MR. PEEK: Of depositions. But I don't know how 

23 quickly they'll react on this one, which will compromise our 

24 ability to take depositions of their witnesses. They say, 

25 well, you included the Reuters allegations in your letters 
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1 rogatory. Well, of course. By that time, in late August, 

2 early September, it was becoming clear to all parties that the 

3 Reuters allegations were going to be the subject matter. So 

4 because of the timing, because of the length of time it takes 

5 to get letters rogatory out of the Secretary of State's State 

6 Department over to Japan, bring the witnesses in, get the 

7 answers, we knew it would take a long period of time, and we 

8 anticipated certainly by that time based upon this Court's 

9 rulings that we would most likely be obligated to produce and 

10 make them relevant. 

11 I comment one more time, Your Honor. I noted in 

12 their opposition to the motion for the Freeh that they said 

13 

14 

THE COURT: You can wrap it up. 

MR. PEEK: -- it's only the Freeh report upon which 

15 we make the basis. 

16 

17 more time? 

18 

19 

20 use it. 

21 

THE COURT: Okay. So -- does Mr. Pisanelli have any 

THE LAW CLERK: One minute. 

THE COURT: You have one minute, if you'd like to 

MR. PISANELLI: Just very quickly. Stating that our 

22 request is for production on shortening time ignores the fact 

23 that they've had these requests since January of 2013. And 

24 Counsel suggesting that they were entitled to make objections 

25 and withhold documents, the objection they offered was 
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15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

relevance. They were not entitled to object on relevance for 

all this time and then be heard to complain before this Court 

that this is somehow an order shortening time for their 

production. They already have these things assembled, I 

suspect, for the government production. 

them up. 

It's time to give 

THE COURT: The relevance objection is overruled. 

The motion is granted in part. 

The responses to the first and second requests for 

production will be produced as soon as practicable. 

However, if they are not produced prior to the 

depositions, to the extent there are additional documents 

produced the Wynn parties may recall the witnesses for 

additional examination related to any subsequently produced 

documents. 

I'm not going to impose a deadline, because we've 

all had some issues in this case with timely production and 

meeting some of our aspirational goals. 

Was there something you wanted to ask me before I go 

to my next issue? 

MR. PISANELLI: Yeah. Because this objection was 

22 first of all on relevance, which is not founded, and, second 

23 of all, 180 degrees separate -- or different from what they're 

24 saying to you for their own discovery, we don't believe that 

25 this was in good faith. We should not have had to pay for 
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1 this motion. 

2 MR. PISANELLI: Okay. That was my next question. 

3 So I'm going to ask you both does anyone want me to address 

4 the competing attorney fees requests in each motion on which 

5 each of you were successful? 

6 MR. PISANELLI: I stand certainly behind our 

7 request, Your Honor. There's nothing that we asserted by way 

8 of preservation of our privilege that can be argued as a 

9 parallel to a two-year assertion of relevance as a basis for 

10 withholding documents. And we never once took an inconsistent 

11 position before you. So, yes, I think we would. 

12 THE COURT: You've told me you want me to do that, 

13 so I'm going to award each side $500 in attorneys' fees on 

14 their successful portions of their motions. 

15 So I have one status check item. When is production 

16 of the ESI that was not stayed by the Supreme Court? How are 

17 we doing on our aspirational goal of production? I know it's 

18 been a rolling production and there've been challenges. 

19 MR. PISANELLI: Yes. Your Honor, Mr. Krakoff, I 

20 think it was, recently sent us an email proposing that we all 

21 shoot for 

22 Was it the end of the year? 

23 MS. SPINELLI: December 31st. 

24 MR. PISANELLI: -- December 31st. And that seems 

25 reasonable to us. 
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1 THE COURT: Well, just remember I just said in 

2 granting your motion in part that if documents are produced 

3 and they're delayed in their production and as a result you're 

4 going to have be forced to retake a deposition, I will grant 

5 that. But it will be limited to the new documents that have 

6 been produced when you retake a deposition. 

7 

8 

9 It's not 

10 

MR. PISANELLI: Yeah. I understand that. 

THE COURT: Okay. And that applies to both of you. 

MR. PEEK: And, Your Honor, I understand the Court's 

11 ruling, and certainly -- and we'll probably address it at that 

12 time. 

13 THE COURT: It's not a ruling. It's a what I 

14 usually do. 

15 

16 

MR. PEEK: No. I --

THE COURT: And since I already said it in this 

17 case, I'm letting you know it works both ways. 

18 MR. PEEK: I understand that, Your Honor. But, you 

19 know, we do have a 10-day deposition, so one would think based 

20 on that that there would be a shorter deposition, because they 

21 would say, well, we don't the Reuters documents. But that's 

22 for subject matter another time, Your Honor. 

23 THE COURT: Sometimes it takes longer when you don't 

24 have the documents. 

25 MR. PEEK: Understood, Your Honor. I'd like to --
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1 THE COURT: I'm pre-judging anything. 

2 MR. PEEK: Your Honor, I -- we're back here next 

3 Thursday on another motion that actually we vacated --

4 THE COURT: Is that October 22nd? 

5 MR. PEEK: Yeah. We vacated that motion which was 

6 scheduled for today to next Thursday because of the -- you 

7 know, I didn't want to argue three motions in 15 minutes. I 

8 would like to with consent of counsel -- to the extent that 

9 there are any other status check items that we also -- and I 

10 had some lists of things, Your Honor, that I just looked at 

11 last night because I was in a mediation and preparing --

12 THE COURT: Can you get me a status report the 

13 afternoon before so we call can look at it if you're going to 

14 bring stuff up. 

15 MR. PEEK: Fine, Your Honor. We will do that. 

16 THE COURT: Okay. So do you want to use 8:00 

17 o'clock on the 22nd, then? 

18 MR. PISANELLI: I just heard Ms. Spinelli groan, not 

19 being a morning person like the rest of us. 

20 THE COURT: She's not the only one. Because now 

21 that I don't come downtown at 6:30 in the morning --

22 MR. URGA: It's less traffic earlier, Your Honor. 

23 MR. PISANELLI: 8:00 o'clock is fine, Your Honor. 

24 

25 

THE COURT: 7:30 is a tough traffic situation. 

MR. PEEK: It was a little tough this morning. 
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1 

2 

MR. URGA: Your Honor, you go early. 

THE COURT: But yes. I have to leave at 7:15 to 

3 be here at 8:00 o'clock. So you guys want October 22nd at 

4 8:00 o'clock? 

5 

6 

MR. PISANELLI: That's fine. 

MR. PEEK: Just for the -- for both the motion and 

7 the status check? 

8 THE COURT: Yes. For all of the issues you have on 

9 calendar 

10 

11 

MR. PEEK: Yes, Your Honor. That would be fine. 

THE COURT: -- that day, not to exceed 15 minutes 

12 each. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

MR. PEEK: That's fine, Your Honor. And we'll 

prepare and submit a status report to the extent that there 

' are issues. 

MR. PISANELLI: Point of clarification. You made 

17 the point crystal clear that if documents are produced after 

18 the depositions those particular documents may be the subject 

19 of continued examination of a particular witness. I'm 

20 assuming you're talking about documents that we're all seeking 

21 to get produced by the end of the year and not documents that 

22 are stayed with the writ with the Supreme Court. 

23 THE COURT: I'm not excluding anything. What I'm 

24 trying to remind you is, Mr. Pisanelli, the State of Nevada 

25 and the Nevada Supreme Court several years ago decided Nevada 
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1 was going to be sort of a cowboy and adopted this Rule 16.1. 

2 It essentially requires you to produce everything you might 

3 ever think will be used in your litigation whether it helps 

4 you or it hurts you. So everything that would be produced 

5 under Rule 26 in accordance with Rule 16.1 has to be produced. 

6 And I know that the Nevada Supreme Court has decided maybe 

7 they don't think it's that broad, but that's how it was 

8 intended when it was originally adopted to get through all 

9 this discovery process, make everything quicker. 

10 So to the extent items which should have been 

11 produced under Rule 16.1 were not produced in a timely fashion 

12 and somebody needs to do something as a result of that, I'm 

13 going the let them re-examine a witness on those documents 

14 usually. 

15 Mr. Peek, what are you trying to say? 

16 MR. PEEK: Well, Your Honor, hear what he asks for. 

17 The documents that you ordered me to produce that are now 

18 stayed in the Supreme Court that is now the subject matter of 

19 the November 3rd oral argument before the Supreme Court, if 

20 I'm obligated to produce those documents, I then get to have 

21 those documents and bring back Mr. Okada and Mr. Takeuchi on 

22 those documents that I refused to produce and sought relief. 

23 THE COURT: Well, no. Those --

24 MR. PISANELLI: That's not what I was saying at all. 

25 THE COURT: Wait. Those are their documents. 
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1 MR. PEEK: Then I apologize if I missed your 

2 argument. 

3 THE COURT: He's controlling that. Those are his 

4 documents. 

5 

6 

MR. PEEK: Thank you. 

THE COURT: He already has those documents. He 

7 doesn't have to produced them, because there's a stay. But he 

8 already has them. So those won't count for him to be able to 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

' review. 

Now, if you had them and there was a stay order and 

you weren't producing them, it would absolutely entitle him, 

in my opinion in most cases, to have the witness come back and 

ask questions. 

MR. PEEK: So, for example, if the Supreme Court 

15 doesn't act before we take the depositions of his clients in 

16 January, February, March of next year and the Supreme Court 

17 rules after, we get to bring them back. 

18 If they order him produce them --THE COURT: 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. 

absolutely. 

THE 

MR. 

I like that. 

MR. 

THE 

PEEK: If they order him to produce them, 

COURT: -- and he produces. 

PEEK: That's fine. Goose/gander, Your Honor. 

URGA: Your Honor, two things. 

COURT: Well, I call it as everybody is treated 
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1 the same. 

2 MR. PEEK: Well, I remember Judge Goldman saying it 

3 to me many times, Your Honor. He loved the goose/gander. 

4 THE COURT: Boy, am I feeling old now. 

5 MR. URGA: Your Honor, two things. I wanted to bring 

6 you up to date. Last month in our standard -- our monthly 

7 hearing I indicated we were going to be taking the 30(b) (6) on 

8 thing 14th of November, which is a Saturday. I believe 

9 Counsel has agreed. I've been trying to reach him for a week, 

10 but I understand he's been busy with --

11 THE COURT: He's in a mediation and a depo. And 

12 I've ordered to be in both at the same time. 

13 MR. URGA: So I understand that. 

14 

15 Honor. 

16 

MR. PEEK: I'm going to a depo right now, Your 

MR. URGA: Your Honor, I want to make sure it's 

17 clear. I'm going to go and notice it on the 14th, which is 

18 Saturday. He's objecting maybe to amount of time. So that I 

19 hope will be brought up next week. 

20 And the second issue is we had two interpreters, and 

21 now I understand that the Okada parties are disagreeing with 

22 one of the interpreters. And I'm concerned that we're not 

23 going to be able to find another interpreter before we start 

24 these depositions. 

25 THE COURT: It's really hard to find good Japanese 
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1 interpreters. 

2 

3 

MR. PISANELLI: We know. 

MR. URGA: So what I'm concerned is that we want to 

4 be able to have at least two of those interpreters starting on 

5 the 26th even though they're objecting. So I think that's 

6 another topic that they should --

7 

8 

MR. PEEK: My apologies. I'm not aware of this. 

THE COURT: Okay. So if there's an issue, Mr. Urga, 

9 Mr. Peek is going to call you on a break in the Jacobs 

10 deposition. 

11 

12 

13 

MS. SPINELLI: [Inaudible]. 

MR. PEEK: I'll try to figure out what the issue is. 

THE COURT: If there's an issue on the interpreter, 

14 I'd rather resolve it sooner, rather than later. 

15 

16 I'd rather 

17 the 26th. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

MR. PEEK: No, no. I agree with you, Your Honor. 

resolve it, too, because we start the deposition on 

THE COURT: Goodbye. 

MR. PEEK: Thank you. 

MR. URGA: Thank you. 

MR. PISANELLI: Thank you. 

THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 8:47 A.M. 

* * * * * 
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